THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2015-002054  
Case No. 2007-CP-40-0576

---

In re: Tony Megna,

James A. Anasti,

Respondent,

Appellant,

V.

Lance Wilson, Willis  
Goodwin, Gina L. Anasti Lee,  
and Richland County Clerk of  
Court,

Defendants.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

Douglas N. Truslow  
Truslow & Truslow  
P.O. Box 1465  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 256-6276  
SC BAR: 5642  
Attorney for Appellant

RECEIVED  
OCT 10 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT AN ATTORNEY DID NOT SUBMIT FRIVOLOUS CLAIMS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal, essentially involving the issue of whether Rule 11(a), SCRCP sanctions should have been assessed against attorney Tony Megna (“Megna”) relative to his misconduct in the ostensible representation of a client against whom summary judgment was granted.

Since 1978, James A. Anasti (“Anasti”) and his father Albert had owned a commercial real estate (hereinafter “the property”) as joint tenants with right of survivorship (R. p. 7 at II). In 1995, Albert died. In 1996, Anasti’s sister Gina A. Lee (“Lee”) filed a deed of distribution to the property, naming herself as the owner (R. pp. 1691-1692). On January 6, 2000, Lee sold the property to Lance Wilson and Willis Goodwin by way of a general warranty deed (various sources including R. p. 8 at V.; R. p. 1676 at 8.; and R. pp. 185-191). Subsequent to the sale, Wilson and Goodwin discovered that Lee did not own the property.

In 2004, Wilson and Goodwin initiated suit against Lee for selling them the property she did not in fact own (R. pp. 145-152). Megna represented Lee. Megna alleged in Lee’s answer that Lee in fact owned the property and also sought to foreclose on her ostensible mortgage on the property (R. p. 162, line 18 – p. 163, line 17). The lawsuit was

subjected to a dismissal pursuant to Rule 40(j), SCRPC. The case was ultimately reinstated, then referred to binding arbitration and tried.<sup>1</sup>

On January 26, 2007, as the companion case languished without resolution, Anasti filed the within captioned action against Lee, Wilson and Goodwin, seeking, *inter alia*, to clear his title to the property (R. pp. 169-176). Lee, again represented by Megna, answered and counterclaimed and again alleged that she was the true owner of the property (R. pp. 184-191). Wilson and Goodwin answered, essentially, alleging that Anasti was the true owner and that a judgment in his favor would bolster their claims against Lee in their companion case (R. pp. 177-183). Considerable discovery took place.

Anasti filed for summary judgment as to title to the property (R. p. 409). Lee opposed it. A hearing was conducted. By Order dated October 26, 2007, the court granted Anasti's motion for summary judgment (R. pp. 6-15). On November 7, 2007, Anasti timely filed for Rule 11 sanctions against Lee and Megna (R. p. 462).

Anasti's motion for sanctions against Lee and Megna was duly set for January 8, 2008 (R. p. 484). Lee, through Megna, filed an appeal on January 4, 2008 from the Order granting summary judgment (R. p. 1225). In light of the filing of Lee's appeal, Anasti's Motion for Sanctions hearing against Lee and Megna was stayed (R. p. 16).

Thereafter, there were considerable delays during protracted appeals, including bankruptcy filings (and appeals) by Megna/Lee (SC Court of Appeals can take notice of appeals in its jurisdiction) and appeals of other sanctions imposed upon Megna by another

---

<sup>1</sup> The verdict was adverse to Lee in the sum of \$216,337.70 and with Anasti once again being declared the owner. (R. p. 45 at 5). That lawsuit has been subsequently referred to as the "companion case".

court in two separate cases. Lee's direct State appeals were ultimately dismissed as untimely (R. pp. 77-79). On January 18, 2013, a status conference was held in order to, *inter alia*, set a date for the within sanctions hearing against Megna. Megna stated at that time that all matters and motions personally involving Lee were moot, given her bankruptcy and loss of her appeals (R. pp. 229-231). He was the only one facing sanctions. A tentative date for a sanctions hearing against Megna alone was set. Thereafter, Megna engaged in further misconduct under Lee's name, but without her permission or consent. That misconduct resulted in two separate and distinct sanctions Orders being issued and appealed by Megna (R. pp. 84-96, R. pp. 97-109). He lost the appeals (R. pp. 130-132).<sup>2</sup> Upon exhausting all appeals, and with Lee being adjudicated bankrupt, the sanctions motion filed November 7, 2007 was ripe for resolution in late 2014. The parties agreed to submit the sanctions issue based on the court(s)' records and disposition in the various courts, the exhibits and the affidavits that had been filed relative to sanctions and in consideration of the written arguments relative to sanctions.

Appellant sought in excess of one hundred thousand dollars (\$100,000) in sanctions. On August 25, 2015 the lower court denied the motion to impose sanctions against Megna on the basis that Mena did not subjectively know that he had been engaging in sanctionable misconduct in defending Lee and asserting frivolous claims (R. pp. 137-139). The court denied Anasti's Motion to Reconsider. Anasti timely appealed on September 29, 2015.

---

<sup>2</sup> Megna has also been sanctioned by yet another court (for a third time) for completely separate and distinct misconduct. (See Pee Dee Health Care, P.A. v. Estate of Hugh S. Thompson, 2010-CP-16-0332).

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Since 1978, Anasti and his father Albert had together owned commercial real property located at 2325 Two Notch Rd. in Columbia, *to wit*: “the property”, as joint tenants with the right of survivorship (R. p. 7 at II).
2. Albert died on October 19, 1995, leaving as his sole survivors his adult children Anasti and Lee (R. p. 7 at III). At Albert’s death, the property passed to Anasti as a matter of law (R. p. 13).
3. On October 25, 1996, and unknown to Anasti (R. p. 7), Lee filed with the Richland County Clerk of Court a deed of distribution to the property, naming herself as its owner (R. p. 7 at IV). Her claim of ownership was based on her deed (R. pp. 7 and 8).
4. On January 6, 2000, Lee sold the property to Wilson and Goodwin by way of a general warranty deed (R. p. 8). She represented to them that she was the sole owner. The sales price was \$177,000. In conjunction with the sale, Lee, Wilson and Goodwin utilized the services of a real estate law firm (Dallis Law Firm) (R. p. 28, 37 and 38). Dallis in turn utilized the services of an independent title abstractor (R. p. 28, and 39). The title abstractor erred in reporting that Lee owned the property, presumably by merely referencing the deed of distribution (R. p. 39). Consequently, Dallis erred in opining that Lee had a valid, marketable title to the property. The closing/sale was accomplished with the payment to Lee by Wilson and Goodwin of the sum of \$50,000 and Lee’s personal financing arrangement with Wilson and Goodwin. Lee received a note and mortgage for \$127,000 (various

sources including R. pp. 26-45, and R. pp. 118-129). No real estate title insurance was procured. Upon their presumed purchase, Wilson and Goodwin exhibited all indicia of ownership (various sources including R. pp. 26-45 and R. pp. 118-129).<sup>3</sup>

5. At some time between 2000 and 2003, Wilson and Goodwin learned that Lee did not own the property she had sold them. Lee also learned at that time that she apparently did not own the property (various sources including R. pp. 26-45 and R. pp. 118-129). In 2002, Wilson and Goodwin stopped paying Lee mortgage payments. They continued to conduct business on the property, to Lee's exclusion (various sources including R. pp. 26-45 and R. pp. 118-129). Though not receiving any mortgage or other payments thereafter, Lee did not seek to foreclose, did not pay taxes nor insurance, nor did she otherwise exhibit any indicia of ownership and never visited the property after she had sold it (various sources including R. pp. 26-45 and R. pp. 118-129). Lee did not return the \$50,000.00 down payment she had received from Wilson and Goodwin, nor did she return any of the mortgage payments that had previously been paid by them to her.
6. On November 12, 2004, Wilson and Goodwin filed lawsuit(s) against Lee (2004-CP-40-5333 and 5334, referred to as the "companion case") (R. pp. 142-158). In the companion case, Wilson and Goodwin alleged that Lee was not the true owner of the property she had sold them. They sought money damages.
7. Megna was Lee's attorney in the companion case lawsuit filed by Wilson and Goodwin against Lee (R. pp. 161-167).

---

<sup>3</sup> They operated a nightclub on the property.

8. As Megna was ostensibly preparing Lee's defense, Megna received a real estate title opinion from Blue Granite Title (operated by attorney Joseph Moore) reflecting that Lee had no legitimate title interest in the property she had sold to Wilson and Goodwin (letter from attorney W. Joseph Moore, Jr. of April 30, 2004 with attachments).<sup>4</sup>
9. On January 12, 2005, Megna filed a motion to join Anasti in the companion case. Megna alleged therein that "disposition of the action in his (Anasti's) absence may, as a practical matter, impair or impede his ability to protect that interest and puts defendant Lee at substantial risk" (R. p. 406).
10. On January 13, 2005, Megna expressed concern for Lee's apparent lack of interest in the property in the context of the companion case lawsuit filed against her. Megna proposed to Lee that they allege "adverse possession" that has been "continuing for more than ten years". Megna proposed this defense, using his words, in order to gain "leverage" for settlement, while concluding that it was a "longshot" and that he and Lee would be very "fortunate" if the scheme worked. Megna further stated that Lee must "...bring whatever possible actions you may have against Jim (Anasti) in the context of this lawsuit or they will most likely be forever barred" (R. p. 994).
11. On March 24, 2005, Megna answered Wilson and Goodwin's companion case complaint on behalf of Lee. Megna alleged that Lee had "good and marketable

---

<sup>4</sup> This title opinion and other communications were provided to Anasti by Lee through her subsequent counsel after her representation by Megna was ended.

title” (R. p. 162, line 4). In Lee’s answer, Megna also sought to foreclose on the note and mortgage provided by Wilson and Goodwin to Lee.

12. In a Third Party/Crossclaim negligence suit Megna filed on Lee’s behalf against Dallis Law Firm in the companion case, he alleged that there was a “defect in the marketable title” from Lee to Wilson and Goodwin (R. p. 165, line 4). Contrary to what he asserted in Wilson and Goodwin’s lawsuit relative to having good title, Megna asserted in his legal malpractice case against Dallis that there was in fact a title defect and hence an impediment to Lee’s sale to Wilson and Goodwin. He sought money damages from Dallis.
13. On April 7, 2005, Megna wrote to the court, stating “I would appreciate you denying [sic] the Rule 19 motion (to include Anasti in the companion case) and removing it from the docket” (4-7-05 letter of Tony Megna addressed to the Chief Administrative Judge).
14. On January 2, 2006, Megna wrote to Dallis’ attorney, demanding that “under their (Dallis’) continuing legal and ethical obligations to Ms. Lee as her attorneys, take no action contrary to her position that she is, and has been since October, 1995, the rightful owner of the property in question” (R. p. 486). At the time, and in the context of ethical obligations, Megna asserted Lee’s “ownership” of the property commenced at its earliest in October, 1995.
15. On November 12, 2006, while the companion case was or had remained subjected to Rule 40(J) SCRCP dismissal, Megna wrote to attorney Moore, proposing that he join him in a contingency based lawsuit against Anasti on behalf of Lee to obtain title to the property. Megna stated that “the new lawsuit will be based on ten-years

adverse possession, plus twenty years prior” and, “obviously, we do not want to revive it (companion case) because I do not want anything to refer back to the original date...”. In a return letter Mr. Moore reiterated that Lee had sold the property in 2000 (R. pp. 995-996). He did not join in with Megna.<sup>5</sup>

16. On January 26, 2007, as Wilson and Goodwin’s companion case had languished without resolution and had previously been subjected to a Rule 40(J) dismissal, Anasti filed the within lawsuit against Wilson and Goodwin and Lee (R. pp. 172-176). Anasti sought to quiet/clear title to the property, for an accounting of funds paid from Wilson and Goodwin to Lee and for damages. In response, Wilson and Goodwin answered, essentially admitting that they did not own the property. Wilson and Goodwin further alleged in their answer that the resolution of the case in favor of Anasti would “buttress” their claims against Lee in the companion case (that had by that time been restored) (R. p. 178 at 9.).
17. Upon Lee being sued by Anasti, Megna continued with Lee’s representation in this case as well as in the companion case. He once again initiated and advanced defenses, counterclaims and arguments essentially the same as in the companion case. In Lee’s answer to Anasti’s complaint, Megna alleged, *inter alia*, that Lee owned the property by virtue of her deed of distribution and that Lee had been in continuous, hostile and exclusive possession of the property for both ten and twenty years, such as to be entitled to the property by way of “adverse possession” (R. p. 185 and 186). Megna undoubtedly knew at the time and throughout this case that

---

<sup>5</sup> At Lee’s request, subsequent to her termination of her relationship with Megna, she had Mr. Moore provide the letters.

what he was asserting was materially false, internally and diametrically inconsistent with other pleadings and claims and had absolutely no chance of ultimately succeeding. This is so because, among other factors: (a) Megna had previously asserted and/or conceded in Wilson and Goodwin's companion case lawsuit that Lee had only first acquired the property in either 1995 or 1996, and she had sold it in 2000, (b) he already had a real estate title search opinion and other compelling evidence establishing that the claims he was advancing were disingenuous, and (c) any minimally competent attorney who had performed any factual investigation or legal research would know that approximately four years of "ownership" under a claimed deed of distribution would not constitute adverse possession, especially under "color of title". In essence, Megna was the one who had suggested baseless defenses to Lee, the opposing parties and to the courts in 2004, in 2005 and again in 2006 and 2007 and throughout the within litigation to the substantial detriment of Anasti. Whether this scheme was initially with Lee's concurrence or was Megna's idea is immaterial and moot.<sup>6</sup>

18. On March 20, 2007, after the companion case had been reinstated. Lee was deposed. She testified:

- her basis for claiming an interest in the property was predicated on her deed of distribution of October 25, 1996 (R. p. 245, deposition page 71, lines 4 and 5);

---

<sup>6</sup> Before the sanctions hearing now involved in this appeal could be conducted, Lee was adjudicated bankrupt and, hence, is no longer a party. Both parties to the appeal have acknowledged that circumstance.

- she sold the property on January 6, 2000 (R. p. 245, deposition page 71, lines 1-5);
- she never went to the property after 2000 (after its sale) (R. p. 244, deposition page 50, line 19 – page 51, line 3); and
- after she sold the property in 2000, Lee had no more interest in it (R. p. 246, deposition page 76, lines 21-23).

19. On March 30, 2007, Anasti served interrogatories, requests to produce and requests to admit upon Lee's counsel Megna in this case. Megna responded by *inter alia*, submitting a CD containing the real estate closing documents relative to Lee's 2000 sale to Wilson and Goodwin (See R. p. 457 and 458; R. p. 454 and 455; R. pp. 1117-1119; R. pp. 990 -993; R. pp.1379-1382; as well as Tax receipts for 2002 and 2003 for the property; *Seller's Residential Affidavit*, 1-6-00; and *Seller's Affidavit*, 1-6-00). The documents again established that the defenses Megna was advancing lacked all merit, *vis a viz* adverse possession.

20. On June 14, 2007, subsequent to one of Anasti's motions to compel discovery, Megna called Anasti's counsel on the telephone and stated that he (Megna) was "sick and tired of dealing with discovery issues". Consequently, Megna said he was going to have one of his employees "deliver to you (Anasti's attorney) my entire file, and you can copy anything and everything in it; take what you want; I don't care" (R. pp. 1564 and 1565; R. pp. 1643 and 1644; R. p. 1652; and R. pp. 1654-1655). Thereafter, an employee of Megna's delivered what was purported to be Megna's entire file and reconfirmed that Plaintiff was permitted, per Megna's instruction, to inspect and copy everything in the file. Contained in the file were

real estate documents reconfirming that Lee had sold the property in 2000. The entire file was returned to Megna with an indication of precisely what had been copied. The documents produced by Megna appeared to reflect that it was Megna who had knowingly and initially suggested and encouraged Lee to advance illegitimate, bad faith defenses and claims in order to gain an unlawful advantage at the inception in the companion case and obviously continuing thereafter in this case unabated. Upon the documents production, Anasti's counsel consulted with an ethics attorney (Desa Ballard) to seek a second opinion as to what should be done with the documented proof of Megna's wrongdoing. Ms. Ballard advised that Anasti was clearly entitled to use the produced documents as they were (a) voluntarily and knowingly produced and (b) not privileged since it involved an attorney proposing apparent fraudulent actions to and on behalf of his client. (R. p. 1758-1762). Anasti did not utilize the documentation produced by Megna at the time because it was irrelevant and/or redundant of other documents establishing that Anasti should be granted summary judgment.

21. Lee's deposition was taken in this case on June 26, 2007. In her deposition, Lee testified consistent with her prior deposition in the companion case, *to wit*;
- She had not been on the premises since the mid 1980s (R. p. 8 at VIII);
  - she knew of no evidence supporting any cognizable claim of ownership by her except for her deed of distribution (R. p. 262, line 19 – p. 263, line 8; R. p. 275, lines 16-18; R. p. 276, lines 9-14; R. p. 279, line 23 – p. 280, line 2; R. p. 280, lines 18-19; R. p. 282, lines 2-5; R. p. 283, lines 22-24 and R. pp. 8-9);

- she first acquired the property in 1996 pursuant to the deed of distribution she subsequently filed (R. pp. 8-9);
- Megna confided in her during a break in her deposition that the deed of distribution they were relying on “is just no good” (R. p. 285, line 23 – p. 286, line 15);
- Anasti was never ousted from the property (R. p. 280, lines 13-21; R. p. 281, lines 7-9; R. p. 282, lines 1-7; and R. p. 9);
- she had in fact sold the property to Wilson and Goodwin in 2000 and had no interest in it thereafter (R. p. 275, line 16 - p. 276, line 14; and R. p. 9);

22. Given Lee’s deposition testimony to the effect that she had never held the property for the requisite period of time to ever acquire it under any legal theory that could in good faith be advanced, Anasti filed a motion for summary judgment, accompanied by the deposition testimony, the relevant deed(s) and Anasti’s affidavit and reference to applicable law.

23. Plaintiff’s summary judgment hearing was held on September 19, 2007. Consistent with their prior pleadings and depositions, Goodwin and Wilson did not assert that their purchase from Lee was valid. They in no way supported Lee/Megna’s various defenses or claims of ownership. In opposition to Plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment, Megna submitted an affidavit signed by Lee (R. pp. 1674-1680). The affidavit was prepared by Megna. Lee’s affidavit was materially false. It was

inapposite of Lee's two depositions in two separate and distinct cases.<sup>7</sup> Megna clearly knew that the claims he was repeatedly advancing were totally meritless. He did not argue against legal precedent. In essence, Megna's actions were to knowingly prepare disingenuous defenses and counterclaims, then present a clearly false affidavit and to argue the opposite of what he knew to be the truth.

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