THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHALND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood

Appellate Case No. 2015-002054
Case No. 2007-CP-40-0576

RECEIVED

OCT 10 2016

SC Court of Appeals

In re: Tony Megna:

JAMES A. ANASTI,

v.

LANCE WILSON, WILLIS GOODWIN,
GINA L. ANASTI LEE, and RICHLAND
COUNTY CLERK OF COURT,

Respondent,

Appellant,

Defendants.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

James M. Griffin
Griffin Davis Law Firm
1116 Blanding Street
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 744-0800

A. Camden Lewis
Ariail E. King
Lewis Babcock L.L.P.
P.O. Box 11208
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 771-8000

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

Q. **[Megna]:** Do you know of any false statements that Ms. Lee has made to you in regard to the property on Two Notch Road?

A. **[Appellant Anasti]:** No. None whatever.

R.p. 1374:22-25.

Q: **[Megna]:** Do you claim you have been misled by Ms. Lee in any particular way?

A: **[Appellant Anasti]:** No.

R.p. 1377:7-9.

Moreover, on January 6, 2000, the Dallis Law Firm conducted a real estate closing wherein Ms. Lee sold the Two Notch property to Wilson and Goodwin. The sales price was \$177,000.00. The Dallis Law Firm reported that Ms. Lee had good, marketable title to the Two Notch property. The closing/sale was accomplished by general warranty deed, a \$50,000.00 down payment and owner financing. Ms. Lee received a note and mortgage for \$127,000.00. However, on December 16, 2002, the South Carolina Department of Transportation filed a lawsuit against Appellant Anasti, Ms. Lee, Wilson and Goodwin requesting the Court condemn a portion of the Two Notch Road property to widen the Two Notch Road. Appellant Anasti took no action in the matter. R.pl 1379. When asked about the matter during his deposition, Appellant Anasti stated:

A. **[Appellant Anasti]:** Well, when I was notified about this Highway Department situation, and something had to be settled on it, and I was in Australia. I had no way of handling any of that, and I just told Joe to take that and just take it to James L. Mann's office and give it to Jimmy Mann and let him handle it, because I didn't know. There was no way I could handle anything.

Q. **[Megna]:** So you first became aware that -- well you tell me what did you become aware something needed to be handled by Mr. Mann?

A. **[Appellant Anasti]:** It was something to do with the sidewalk or easement on the place that they have -- a decision had to be made or something. They wanted to fix the place it or put a sidewalk in or some deal, and I mean I wasn't in any position, I was gone, so nothing I could do, and I said just take it to Jimmy Mann and give it to him and let him handle it.

R.p. 1375:14-1376:5.

Q. **[Megna]:** So, in other words, you didn't do anything about it at all?

A. **[Appellant Anasti]:** Only that they were going to pay for the property they wanted to put a sidewalk down.

Q. **[Megna]:** You operated entirely through your power of attorney?

A. **[Appellant Anasti]**: Yes. Well. I mean I gave it to Jimmy Mann, for the legal thing, and is why I told Joe (Gravelyn) to take it and give it to Jimmy.

R.p. 1376:6-16.

On November 12, 2004, Wilson and Goodwin initiated a suit against Ms. Lee (2004-CP-40-5333). They alleged Ms. Lee was not the owner of the property she had sold them. They did not seek to quiet title; they alleged negligence and fraud – and sought damages. On March 24, 2005, Respondent Megna answered Wilson and Goodwin's complaint on behalf of Ms. Lee, with her understanding being that that she owned the Two Notch property based on the release and waiver of any claims regarding the ownership of all real property distributed through the Estate signed by Appellant Anasti's attorney-in-fact (Mr. Gravelyn) during the probate court proceedings. R.p. 1368. Similarly, Ms. Lee claimed ownership based on adverse possession and ouster. Ms. Lee also sought to foreclose on the note and mortgage provided by Wilson and Goodwin to Ms. Lee. In a Third Party/Crossclaim negligence suit against Dallis Law Firm, Respondent Megna alleged that if Ms. Lee did not own the property, the defect in title was due to the negligence of the Dallis Law Firm.

On January 26, 2007, more than ten years following the signing of the written release to the Two Notch property by Appellant Anasti (though Mr. Gravelyn as Anasti's attorney-in-fact) and more than ten years following the filing of the probate court deed of distribution, attorney Truslow filed a new and separate lawsuit against Ms. Lee, as well as Wilson and Goodwin seeking to quiet/clear title to the Two Notch property, and for an accounting and for damages. R.p. 1190.

Appellant Anasti improperly relies upon certain attorney-client communications between Respondent Megna and Ms. Lee asserting that the defenses were acknowledged to be frivolous

and pursued solely for purposes of delay. App. Brief, p. 13. As explained in Section II.C. herein, the Court should disregard all references to these attorney-client privileged documents from Plaintiff's memorandum and argument.⁹ Moreover, the two letters were written in January 2005, two years before Appellant Anasti filed suit against Ms. Lee. These two letters discuss the separate lawsuit brought by Wilson and Goodwin that was subsequently dismissed. Lastly, the factual predicate being discussed is significantly different because by the time Appellant Anasti filed suit against Ms. Lee, ten years had lapsed from the date the property was deeded to her through the probate court. In 2005 however, the prescription period under adverse possession had not yet been satisfied solely by Ms. Lee's acquisition. In addition, the 10 year statute of limitations had not yet expired on any claim held by Appellant Anasti.

Appellant Anasti also argues that Respondent Megna, on behalf of Ms. Lee, took inconsistent positions in the 2005 lawsuit. Appellant asserts that the professional negligence claims brought against the Dallis Law Firm alleging a defect in marketable title are inconsistent with the defense in the 2005 lawsuit brought against Wilson and Goodwin. First, there is nothing improper about asserting alternative theories or positions in litigation. In fact, the Rules of Civil Procedure provide for it. Under Rules 8 and 18, SCRPC, a party may join "as alternate claims as many claims, legal or equitable, as he has against the opposing party, even if the claims are inconsistent." *Harper v Ethridge*, 348 S.E.2d 374, 377 (S.C. Ct. App.1986). Lastly, Appellant does not have any standing to complain about the defenses raised or claims made on behalf of Ms. Lee in the 2005 action or any crossclaim she alleged against the Dallis Law Firm. None of

⁹ The lower court noted that Appellant's counsel did not follow the established protocol for Rule 26(b)(5)(B), SCRPC, for inadvertent disclosures. R.p. 139.

the parties in that litigation asserted any allegation of misconduct against Ms. Lee or Respondent Megna and the time has long passed for anyone to do so.

There is absolutely no validity to Appellant's assertion that Respondent Megna and his client pursued frivolous defenses to Appellant's claims. Rather, Appellant, by his total failure to assert any ownership interest in the property at the time of their father's death, by his consent to the property distribution in the probate court, and by his failure to assert any claim of ownership until more than 10 years after the property was deeded to Ms. Lee, is responsible for the confusion that existed over the ownership of the property.¹⁰

II. Respondent Megna has presented multiple additional sustaining grounds that support the lower court's denial of sanctions.

The lower court's order was based on its finding that there was insufficient evidence of Respondent Megna's mental state to find that he violated Rule 11. However, Respondent Megna's memorandum in opposition to the motion for sanctions set forth multiple other bases which provide additional sustaining grounds for the lower court's refusal to impose sanctions. *See I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (holding the winner in the lower court may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court's ruling, regardless of whether those reasons have been presented to or ruled on by the lower court); *Sims v. Amisub of S. Carolina, Inc.*, 408 S.C. 202,

¹⁰ Moreover, Appellant's claim for attorney's fees in the amount of \$188,198.81 is likewise without merit. First, there is absolutely no basis to support any award of sanctions against Respondent Megna. In addition, there is no evidence that attorney's fees and costs were actually incurred by Appellant Anasti in the first instance. Nor is there any evidence before this Court as to the justification of the fees and costs requested by Truslow. Absent such evidence, there cannot be an award for fees and costs assessed against another party. *See Williamson v. Middleton*, 681 S.E.2d 867, 870-71 (S.C. 2009) (holding that where there is no competent evidence that attorneys' fees and costs were actually incurred, they cannot be awarded).

214, 758 S.E.2d 187, 194 (Ct. App. 2014), *reh'g denied* (May 19, 2014), *cert. granted* (Nov. 19, 2014), *aff'd*, 414 S.C. 109, 777 S.E.2d 379 (2015), *reh'g denied* (Oct. 22, 2015) (holding “We note ‘[t]he appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the record.’”))

A. Appellant’s motion for sanctions was previously denied by this Court on May 9, 2007 and thus, the motion in the lower court was barred by *res judicata* and the law of the case.

Judge Hood correctly ruled that jurisdiction to award attorney’s fees incurred in the appeal of a case is the province of this Court. Under Rule 222(b), SCACR, attorney’s fees are limited to \$1,000 unless the prevailing party makes a motion under Rule 222(5). In *Bowen & Smoot v. Plumlee*, 308 S.C. 325, 417 S.E.2d 855 (1992), the Supreme Court remanded the case to the lower court for an award of attorneys’ fees incurred in defending the action. The appellant sought clarification of the order and the Supreme Court ruled:

- 1) That unless otherwise stated by this Court, the prevailing party on appeal is only entitled to recover attorney's fee for the appeal in the amount of \$750 as automatically provided by Supreme Court Rule 38, now Rule 222(b), (e), SCACR; 2) that respondents never requested of this Court an order modifying the amount of attorney's fees allowed; 3) that the remand was for the limited purpose of determining reasonable attorney's fees incurred in the trial court; and 4) the circuit court was not given authority to award attorney's fees for the appeal.

On May 2, 2009, while this case was in the State appellate courts, Appellant Anasti filed a motion for sanctions in the Court of Appeals [R.p. 1244, 1296] against Respondent Megna, requesting the Court grant Appellant \$188,198.81 in sanctions, costs and expenses. The allegations before this Court and the documents submitted in support of the “Motion for Sanctions” are nearly identical to the memorandum and documents submitted to the lower court after remittitur. In fact, in the body of the motion before that Court, the Appellant and Truslow

specifically stated that:

Respondent [Anasti] relies “on the entire record in this case including but not limited to the Orders of the Lower Court, the Order(s) of the Bankruptcy Court¹¹ and District Court and such Memorandum(s) (sic), Affidavit(s) and Exhibits as may be presented.”

R.p. 1244.

By order dated May 9, 2009, this Court unanimously denied Appellant’s “Motion for Sanctions.” R.p. 1317. Appellant did not seek further review of the order denying sanctions, and therefore, this ruling is the law of the case. *See Charleston Lumber Co., Inc. v. Miller Housing Corp.*, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (S.C. 2000) (stating an ruling of the Court of Appeals that is not appealed to the Supreme Court is the law of the case: “[I]t was incumbent upon Charleston Lumber to seek rehearing and/or petition this Court for a writ of certiorari (from the decision of the Court of Appeals) or be bound by *Charleston Lumber I* as the law of the case.”); *see also, Judy v. Martin*, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (S.C. 2009) (“Under the law-of-the-case doctrine, a party is precluded from re-litigating, after an appeal, matters that were either not raised on appeal, but should have been, or raised on appeal, *but expressly rejected by the appellate court.*”) (emphasis added). In *Nelson v. Charleston & Western Carolina Railway Co.*, 98 S.E.2d 798, 800 (S.C. 1957), the South Carolina Supreme Court held: “The law of the case applies both to those issues explicitly decided and to those issues which were necessarily decided in the former case.” *See also, Johnson v. Bd. of Comm'rs of Police Ins. & Annuity Fund of State*, 68 S.E.2d 629, 633

¹¹ As noted below, a State court has no jurisdiction over matters that occur during federal bankruptcy court proceedings because the federal courts have original and exclusive jurisdiction over bankruptcy cases and claims. *See* 28 U.S.C. § 1334(a). Appellant also omitted the fact that all of the bankruptcy proceedings occurred more than one year after the Notice of Appeal was filed and after this Court had exclusive jurisdiction of the case and sanctions were ultimately denied.

(S.C. 1952) ("The rulings in a case even though admittedly wrong become the law of the case and [are] *res judicata* between the parties.") (emphasis added). The ruling on Appellant's motion was not remanded for the lower court for consideration. Rule 205, SCACR. "[A] trial court has no authority to exceed the mandate of the appellate court on remand." *South Carolina Dep't of Soc. Servs. v. Basnight*, 551 S.E.2d 274, 279 (S.C. Ct. App. 2001) (citing 5 Am.Jur.2d *Appellate Review* § 784, at 453 (1995)).

The mandate of the appellate court is jurisdictional. *Id.* The trial court has a duty to follow the appellate court's directions. *Ackerman v. McMillan*, 477 S.E.2d 267, 268 (S.C. Ct. App. 1996). The actions complained of by Appellant were resolved during the appellate proceedings, and the lower court could not take them up anew. Moreover, none of the appellate costs could ever be recovered in the lower court pursuant to the ruling in *byar & Smoot*.

B. The lower court had no jurisdiction over matters that occurred during Ms. Lee's federal bankruptcy proceedings.

Judge Hood also correctly ruled that the State Courts lack jurisdiction to impose sanctions for conduct occurring in federal bankruptcy court. Case law establishes the fact that state courts lack jurisdiction over matters happening in the bankruptcy court, and Judge Hood properly noted that he had no authority to award sanctions for conduct in the bankruptcy court. R.p. 137.¹² In *State v. Sheppard*, Case No. 2005-GS-47-20 (January 12, 2007), the court concluded that the State of South Carolina lacked jurisdiction to prosecute a defendant committing perjury in a bankruptcy proceeding. The *Sheppard* case relied on the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Thomas v. Loney*, 134 U.S. 372 (1890), which held that state courts

¹² Judge Hood also recognized that the lower court had no jurisdiction to award sanctions for conduct during an appeal. R.p. 137.

lack jurisdiction to punish witnesses for testifying falsely in a federal proceeding, stating: “the power of punishing a witness for testifying falsely in a judicial proceedings belongs peculiarly to the government in who tribunals the proceeding is had.” *Id.*¹³ Multiple other courts have recognized the holding of *Thomas v. Loney*. See, e.g., *State v. Warren*, 539 P.2d 184 (1975) (dismissing perjury charges arising from a deposition given in a federal civil proceeding based on lack of jurisdiction); *Commonwealth v. Kitchen*, 133 S.W. 586 (Kentucky 1911) (holding alleged perjury committed by false swearing before a United States Commissioner not subject to jurisdiction of state court); *People v. Kelley*, 38 Cal, 145 (1869) (holding state has no jurisdiction for prosecution of perjury before land officer of United States).

Furthermore, courts have consistently held that the Bankruptcy Code preempts state law claims for alleged misconduct that occurs in a bankruptcy proceedings. For example, in *Shiner v. Moriarity*, 706 A.2d 1228, 1237-1238 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1998), the court held:

The trial court concluded that the wrongful use of process claim for damages resulting from the filing of certain papers in the U.S. Bankruptcy Court was properly brought in state court. We must first note that the trial court has misstated the issue. The issue is not whether the trial court could exercise jurisdiction over the controversy. Rather, the issue is whether the application of state tort law to the particular issue was pre-empted by the Bankruptcy Code. The bankruptcy court's exclusive jurisdiction, if any, is derivative of exclusive application of the Bankruptcy Code to the conduct at issue. Similarly, the Shiners' response is misguided. They focus on the limited jurisdiction of bankruptcy courts in arguing that that court lacked jurisdiction over their wrongful use claim. The issue is whether a wrongful use claim exists, or is it pre-empted by the remedies available under the Bankruptcy Code.

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